ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 5489 (S.C. Ct. App. filed May 31, 2017)

Appellate Case No. 2017-001933

THE STATE,

Petitioner,

vs.

ERIC TERRELL SPEARS,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DANIEL E. JOHNSON
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 192
Columbia, S.C. 29202-1987
(803) 576-1800

RECEIVED
MAR 19 2018
S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The trial court properly denied Respondent's motion to suppress the crack cocaine because law enforcement engaged Respondent in a consensual street encounter when they walked a little faster than Respondent to reach him, politely asked to speak with Respondent, and asked questions in a respectful manner. Walking a little faster to catch up to a person to speak with them is not a show of authority that creates a seizure, and merely asking incriminating questions does not turn a consensual encounter into a seizure.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent Spears was indicted for trafficking between ten and twenty-eight grams of crack cocaine. The jury convicted Spears as charged following trial on February 17-18, 2015. Spears did not attend his trial; therefore, the presiding judge, the Honorable Robert E. Hood, placed the sentence under seal. On February 19, 2015, Spears was brought before Judge Hood who unsealed the sentence. Judge Hood sentenced Spears to thirty years' imprisonment for third-offense trafficking cocaine.

Spears appealed his conviction and sentence. Following briefing and oral argument, the Court of Appeals reversed the conviction and sentence in a published opinion on May 31, 2017. State v. Spears, 420 S.C.363, 802 S.E.2d 803 (Ct. App 2017). Judge Konduros wrote the majority opinion, which Judge Short joined. Judge Williams dissented. The State filed its petition for rehearing on June 15, 2017. The Court of Appeals denied the petition for rehearing on August 18, 2017, with Judge Williams voting to grant the petition for rehearing.

This Court granted the State's petition for writ of certiorari. The Brief of Petitioner follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Spears smuggled crack cocaine to Columbia from New York City by bus. While law enforcement spoke with Spears during a street encounter, Spears repeatedly fidgeted with his shirt and even put his hands underneath his shirt – despite the officers’ request he desist – causing officers to reasonably fear he was armed and necessitating a Terry¹ frisk. As the result of the search, a package containing eleven grams of crack cocaine was found in Spears’ waistband.

The trial court conducted a pre-trial suppression motion. The State’s lone witness for the suppression motion was Special Agent Dennis Tracy who was employed with the Lexington County Sheriff’s Office and is a task officer with Immigration and Customs Enforcement (ICE), renamed Homeland Security by the time of trial. On March 29, 2012, Agent Tracy and two other officers were at a drop-off point for what is commonly known as a Chinese bus line. ICE was assisting the Drug Enforcement Agency (DEA) with a tip they received that two black men were transporting narcotics on a bus. Agent Tracy has nineteen years’ law enforcement experience and ten years’ experience in narcotics. R. p. 110, lines 1-5. The DEA asked for Agent Tracy’s assistance because he was certified for interdiction. R. pp. 12-15. Agent Tracy explained the role of the interdiction unit is to stop the flow of narcotics into neighborhoods by nontraditional means such as common carrier parcel systems like Fed Ex, UPS, DHL, or people transporting narcotics by mass transit such as airplane, bus, or train. R. p. 109, lines 1-7.

The bus line is a low-budget bus line operating out of the Chinatown neighborhood of Manhattan whose buses run to North and South Carolina with few stops. No identification or

¹ See Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 26 (1968).

security is required to travel on the buses, so the bus line is “commonly used by felons, by wanted subjects, by people trafficking narcotics and counterfeit goods. There’s a whole slew of people using these buses because of the lack of security.” R. pp. 15-16 (direct quote, p. 15, line 24 – p. 16, line 3). Agent Tracy explained to the jury the bus line does not have a real station, but instead drops off its customers at a parking lot or closed business. They were aware of a drop-off point at Dutch Square Mall and another location they went to, a hotel parking lot by Broad River Road near Interstate 20. R. pp. 113-114.

Agent Tracy and two other officers were positioned at the Broad River Road drop-off point. R. p. 16. Agent Tracy testified most of the people they observed disembark from the bus were greeted by relatives or friends, made calls, or left in cabs. However, two people attracted the agents’ attention as they retrieved a large number of bags, four bags total from underneath the bus. The couple engaged in conversation with each other, looked at the officers, and proceeded to walk up the street toward the post office. R. p. 17, lines 5-14. The couple was Spears and his girlfriend. Agent Tracy explained why their attention raised the officers’ suspicions, “Most of the other people didn’t pay that much attention to us, they would look and go on with their business, but these two subjects continued to – what appeared to us is that they kept looking at us and talking amongst themselves.” R. p. 18, lines 2-6.

The officers decided to make contact with Spears and his girlfriend. Later on cross-examination, Agent Tracy explained the following:

The reason we contacted them was to first of all identify them, and second of all to ascertain if they were involved in any criminal activity, specifically under our ICE authority it would be trafficking counterfeit goods. They have four large bags coming out of a known

source area for counterfeit goods, we thought that might be something we wanted to take a look at.

R. p. 39, lines 6-12.

The two subjects, Spears and his companion, walked up the street, towards the post office, and the officers walked behind them. Agent Tracy saw the female reach into her bag and pull out an unknown object, then appear to hand the unknown item to the male. Because the male never brought his hands above his waist, the officers expected the object would be in his hands, his waistband, or his pockets. As the two subjects walked, they continued to look back at the officers. The officers asked to speak with the two subjects when they were within fifteen to twenty feet away and the couple stopped walking. Officer Tracy explained they said “something nonthreatening like, ‘Excuse us, do you mind if we have a word with you.’” R. p. 14, lines 4-6. Officer Tracy described catching up to Spears and his companion as follows: “They’re walking, we’re walking behind them, we didn’t run. However quickly we could walk **a little faster than they did** to make contact with them.” R. p. 31. Officer Tracy explained to the jury, “[U]s running after somebody is more of a show of force so we didn’t want to run after them.” R. p. 134, line 24 – p. 135, line 2. He denied defense counsel’s suggestion they were chasing Spears. R. p. 135, lines 6-8.

The officers identified themselves, made small talk, and asked about their travels. R. pp. 18-19. Special Agent Tracy agreed Spears and his girlfriend would have been free to leave if they chose not to talk to law enforcement. R. p. 20, lines 2-7. He explained what happened next:

We then asked them if they had – or we told them the bus lines, that we had had problems in the past with drugs and wanted subjects and counterfeit merchandise, and we asked them for ID. I noted that while I was speaking with the male subject he continued to put his hands underneath his shirt and I guess the motion would be like puff

his shirt away from his waistband.

R. p. 20, lines 9-15. On cross-examination, Agent Tracy described the shirt as a baggy type of sweatshirt. R. p. 39. Agent Tracy noted that in casual conversation, Spears' answers "were very forthcoming." R. p. 21, lines 10-12. However, when he asked Spears if he had any weapons on him or his possessions, Spears hesitated before answering "no." R. p. 21, lines 12-14. Agent Tracy became suspicious because his training and experience taught him people hesitate when they are confronted with a question they do not want to answer truthfully. R. p. 21, lines 16-20.

Agent Tracy asked Spears to keep his hands where he could see them because Spears started pulling his shirt and moving his hands around his waistband and pocket. However, Spears continued to do the same thing a couple more times and became frustrated when Agent Tracy asked him to stop. Noting, "Drugs and guns are commonly hand in hand, criminals often have designated weapons in their possession," Agent Tracy decided to pat down Spears to ensure he did not have any weapons. R. p. 20, line 17 - p. 21, line 5 (direct quote, p. 20, lines 23-25).

Before the jury, Agent Tracy explained the following:

I didn't know what he had. I didn't know if he was concealing a weapon in his waistband, I didn't know what he had in his waistband but I didn't want him to [pull at his shirt and waistband] because hands are what can hurt you from a law enforcement perspective. If I . . . can't see your hands that's a concern for me, **it's an officer safety concern.**

R. p. 120, lines 13-19. During trial, Agent Tracy explained his actions were not based on the tip, but solely on Spears' actions. R. p. 132.

When he conducted the pat down, Agent Tracy found a balled-up object in the waistband that felt consistent with crack cocaine. Agent Tracy removed the object, which was wrapped in a napkin.

Opening the napkin, Agent Tracy saw what looked like crack cocaine and also a little marijuana. At that point, the officers detained Spears. R. pp. 21-22. On cross-examination, Agent Tracy explained “I’ve gotten plenty of crack out of a waistband before and that’s what it felt like.” R. p. 44, lines 5-6.

Spears called his quondam girlfriend, Tracy Jenkins, as a witness at the suppression hearing. She testified she did not feel she was free to leave, but was hazy on the timing of events. She explained she was told to sit down, but that seemed to occur after Spears was already in handcuffs. R. pp. 54-59.

The trial court denied the motion to suppress. R. pp. 83-86. Agent Tracy was the State’s first witness at trial and testified consistent with his in camera testimony. The second witness was one of the other two officers with Agent Tracy, Investigator Briton Lorenzen, with Homeland Security. He was the officer who was notified about the tip by the DEA. He, Agent Tracy, and Deputy Frank Finch conducted surveillance at the hotel parking lot by Broad River Road. It turned out the two targets were not on the bus, but were on another bus that went to the other drop-off point by Dutch Square Mall. R. pp. 143-144; p. 149. But while watching the exiting bus passengers go about their business, he observed two passengers paying close attention to the officers. The officers were all in plain clothes, but Investigator Lorenzen’s gun and badge were visible. R. pp. 143-145. Investigator Lorenzen also testified how Spears fumbled with his shirt around his waist, even putting his hands underneath his shirt. He explained this was concerning because weapons are often found in a waistband. R. pp. 146-47.

Investigator Brian Gwyn, now with the Lexington County Sheriff’s Department, was with the Richland County Sheriff’s Department at the time of the arrest. He was involved with investigating

the tip. Investigator Gwyn was monitoring both drop-off points; he initially went to the Broad River location to help set up surveillance and then went to the other drop-off point by Dutch Square Mall when informed that another bus arrived at that location. When he returned, he found the three officers with Spears. He received the seized rocks from Agent Tracy and the rocks field-tested positive for crack cocaine, so they arrested Spears. Investigator Gwyn took over the case as a Richland County case. R. pp. 154-155. Investigator Gwyn testified Spears made several statements. Spears claimed to not know what the rocks were, explaining, "Just because it's on me doesn't mean I know what it is." R. p. 157. Spears complained he felt he was set up because he never saw law enforcement on the bus line before. Spears admitted he was paid \$2,000 to transport the contraband from New York to take advantage of the more expensive South Carolina market for the narcotic. R. pp. 157-158. The forensic chemist testified the substance seized was 11.43 grams of crack cocaine. R. p. 176.

Deputy Frank Finch from the Lexington County Sheriff's Department was part of the DEA task force at the Broad River location with Special Agent Tracy and Investigator Lorenzen. He testified consistently with the other two officers involved in the arrest. Deputy Finch noted Spears kept pulling at his shirt even after Agent Tracy asked him twice to stop. This drew their attention to Spears' shirt because, Deputy Finch explained, "**We are taught the eyes won't kill you but the hands will.**" R. p. 189, lines 6-19.

ARGUMENT

The trial court properly denied Respondent's motion to suppress the crack cocaine because law enforcement engaged Respondent in a consensual street encounter when they walked a little faster than Respondent to reach him, politely asked to speak with Respondent, and asked questions in a respectful manner. Walking a little faster to catch up to a person to speak with them is not a show of authority that creates a seizure, and merely asking incriminating questions does not turn a consensual encounter into a seizure.

The Court of Appeals erred because, as noted in Judge Williams' dissent, it failed to recognize that evidence supported the trial court's ruling finding no Fourth Amendment violation. Spears was not seized when law enforcement followed him on foot a short distance, accelerated to a brisk walk to reach him, politely asked to speak with him, and questioned whether he had any dangerous weapons. Federal law is clear that even asking incriminating questions does not render a voluntary encounter into a seizure. Further, the majority opinion's findings are similar to the appellant's "investigative pursuit" argument rejected by the United States Supreme Court in Michigan v. Chesternut, 486 U.S. 567, 575 (1988). Walking briskly is not a show of force – if so, law enforcement would be restricted to questioning only those people headed in their direction or standing still, an absurd result.

The Court of Appeals' majority opinion failed to properly apply the standard of review.

The central error in the Court of Appeals' opinion is despite referencing the requisite standard of review, the majority made its own findings of facts and inferences without regard to evidence supporting the trial court's ruling. In "South Carolina appellate courts review Fourth Amendment determinations under a clear error standard." State v. Provet, 405 S.C. 101, 107, 747 S.E.2d 453,

456 (2013). “When reviewing a Fourth Amendment search and seizure case, an appellate court must affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling.” State v. Wright, 391 S.C. 436, 442, 706 S.E.2d 324, 326 (2011). “Under the clear error standard, ‘an appellate court will not reverse a trial court’s finding of fact simply because it would have decided the case differently.’” State v. Vickery, 399 S.C. 507, 732 S.E.2d 218 (Ct. App. 2012).

In the instant case, Judge Williams dissented from the majority opinion, noting, “One of the guiding principles shaping our state’s Fourth Amendment jurisprudence is that, in a fact-based Fourth Amendment challenge, an appellate court is restricted by the ‘any evidence’ standard of review.” State v. Spears, 802 S.E.2d 803, 810 (S.C. Ct. App. 2017) (J. Williams dissenting). Judge Williams believed the standard of review required affirming the trial court’s ruling. He noted the appellate court should not reverse a circuit court’s findings of fact merely because it would decide the case differently than the circuit court. Judge Williams noted “faithful adherence to the ‘any evidence’ standard of review will prevent any misconception that we have substituted our own findings in place of those of the circuit court.” Id.

The majority’s opinion creates precedent that threatens officer safety and law enforcement’s ability to investigate criminal activity.

This case, as published by the Court of Appeals, creates issues of officer safety and an impediment to the State’s legitimate and significant interest in enforcing the State’s narcotics laws. In its opinion, the Court of Appeals found Spears was seized by officers merely because they increased their speed to a brisk walk to catch up to Spears, finding the brisk walk “exhibited threatening behavior.” Spears, 802 S.E.2d at 807. Additionally, the Court of Appeals found Spears

was seized “at the latest” when asked if he had any illegal weapons or items on him or his property. Id. The opinion is at odds with federal precedent that requires more than the police officers’ status of being police officers to constitute a seizure.

Only when officers “by means of physical force or show of authority” **restrain** the liberty of a citizen is a voluntary interaction transformed into a Fourth Amendment seizure. Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 19 n.16 (1968); see Michigan v. Chesternut, 486 U.S. 567, 575 (1988) (“While the very presence of a police car driving parallel to a running pedestrian could be somewhat intimidating, this kind of police presence does not, standing alone, constitute a seizure. . . . Without more, the police conduct here – a brief acceleration to catch up with respondent, followed by a short drive alongside him – was not ‘so intimidating’ that respondent could reasonably have believed that he was not free to disregard the police presence and go about his business.”). The officers walked “briskly” as they described it, to reach Spears and his companion, not as a show of authority, but as a matter of practicality. Under the standard of review, the trial court did not err in finding an accelerated walk was not a restraint of Spears’ liberty.

The State is especially concerned with the proposition that merely asking a person if they are carrying a weapon will turn a consensual encounter into a seizure. For officer safety, this is problematic. It also is simply erroneous. See United States v. Little, 18 F.3d 1499, 1506 (10th Cir. 1994) (*en banc*) (“The asking of ‘incriminating questions’ is irrelevant to the totality of the circumstances surrounding the encounter;” and citing Florida v. Bostick, 501 U.S. 429, 434 (1991)).

Additionally, the opinion inhibits good, fair, community policing in response to the infiltration of dangerous controlled substances in our community. See United States v. Mendenhall,

446 U.S. 544, 561-62 (1980) (“The public has a compelling interest in detecting those who would traffic in deadly drugs for personal profit. Few problems affecting the health and welfare of our population, particularly our young, cause greater concern than the escalating use of controlled substances. . . . And many drugs . . . may be easily concealed. As a result, the obstacles to detection of illegal conduct may be unmatched in any other area of law enforcement.”).

The present case was a simple street encounter.

The present case was a voluntary street encounter that only became a seizure when law enforcement necessarily performed a Terry frisk. As discussed below, the Court of Appeals’ opinion departs from established precedent allowing law enforcement to approach an individual on a public street and ask questions without implicating Fourth Amendment protections. Florida v. Bostick, 501 U.S. 429, 434 (1991).

A law enforcement officer may ask a citizen questions and the citizen ordinarily may refuse to answer. In order to stop a person and **require** a response to questioning, the Fourth Amendment demands the law enforcement officer have a “reasonable suspicion” the person was engaged in misconduct. Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 27 (1968). When a law enforcement officer “accosts an individual and restrains his freedom to walk away, [the officer] has ‘seized’ that person.” Id. at 16. But of course, “not all personal intercourse between policemen and citizens involves ‘seizures’ of persons.” Id. at 19, n.16.

“Only when the officer, by means of physical force or show of authority, has in some way restrained the liberty of a citizen may we conclude that a ‘seizure’ has occurred.” Id. “[L]aw enforcement officers do not violate the Fourth Amendment by merely approaching an individual on

the street or in another public place, by asking him if he is willing to answer some questions, by putting questions to him if the person is willing to listen, or by offering in evidence in a criminal prosecution his voluntary answers to such questions.” Florida v. Royer, 460 U.S. 491, 497 (1983). “[E]ven when police officers **have no basis** for suspecting a particular individual, they may generally ask questions of that individual, ask to see identification, and request to search his or her luggage – as long as the police do not convey a message that compliance with their request is required.” Bostick, 501 U.S. at 434-35 (emphasis added, citations omitted).

“Moreover, characterizing every street encounter between a citizen and the police as a ‘seizure,’ while not enhancing any interest secured by the Fourth Amendment, would impose wholly unrealistic restrictions upon a wide variety of legitimate law enforcement practices.” Mendenhall, 446 U.S. at 554. The Mendenhall court noted the need for police questioning for effective enforcement: “Without such investigation, those who were innocent might be falsely accused, those who were guilty might wholly escape prosecution, and many crimes would go unsolved. **In short the security of all would be diminished.**” Id. (emphasis added, citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

In order to determine whether an incident is a seizure or a consensual street encounter, the trial court must determine whether, under the totality of circumstances, “a reasonable person would have believed that he was free to leave.” Id. (“Examples of circumstances that might indicate a seizure, even where the person did not attempt to leave, would be the threatening presence of several officers, the display of a weapon by an officer, some physical touching of the person of the citizen, or the use of language or tone of voice indicating that compliance with the officer's request might be

compelled.”). The issue is considered not from the viewpoint of a reasonable person, but a **reasonable innocent person**. Bostick, 501 U.S. at 438 (“[T]he ‘reasonable person’ test presupposes an *innocent* person.”) (emphasis in the original).

The majority erred in finding Spears was seized when he was asked if he had any weapons because law enforcement has the liberty, like any other citizen, to address questions to persons they encounter, whether or not the questions are potentially incriminating.

It was appropriate for law enforcement to approach Spears in order to ask him some questions, the record indicates he was free to not answer the questions posed to him. The Mendenhall court cited with approval Justice White’s concurring opinion in Terry as follows: “There is nothing in the Constitution which prevents a policeman from addressing questions to anyone on the streets Police officers enjoy the liberty (again, possessed by every citizen) to address questions to other persons, . . . although ordinarily the person addressed has an equal right to ignore his interrogator and walk away.” Mendenhall, 446 U.S. at 553 (quoting Terry, 392 U.S. at 31-34 (J.White, concurring)) (citations and internal quotations omitted).

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