STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Richland County

Honorable Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

THE STATE,

V.

ERIC TERRELL SPEARS,

**ORIGINAL**  
**RECEIVED**  
**APR 12 2018**  
PETITIONER,  
S.C. SUPREME COURT

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-001933  
\_\_\_\_\_

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT  
\_\_\_\_\_

LANELLE CANTEY DURANT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Richland County

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

## ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals correctly reversed the trial court when the trial court erred by denying Respondent Spears' motion to suppress the drug evidence because he was seized within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment and law enforcement lacked a reasonable suspicion that he was involved in criminal activity.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that Spears was seized under the Fourth Amendment. The Court, citing Florida v. Bostick, 501 U.S. 429 (1991), stated that the test to determine whether a person has been seized for purposes of the Fourth Amendment is whether, under the totality of the circumstances surrounding the encounter, a reasonable person in the suspect's position 'would have felt free to decline the officers' requests or otherwise terminate the encounter.' The Court cited the factors pursuant to State v. Williams, 351 S.C. 591, 600, 571 S.E.2d 703, 708 (Ct. App. 2002) and held that this was not a consensual encounter. The Court reasoned that Spears was "arguably seized" the moment the agents had contact with him. But the latest point he was seized was when Agent Tracy asked Spears if he had any illegal weapons or items on him.

Spears was face to face with three agents, two of whom had their guns displayed. No reasonable person would have felt free to walk away. Spears and his wife were somewhat isolated from the other people when they were stopped.

The Court of Appeals also held that the agents lacked reasonable suspicion to stop Spears. The state argued that the majority of the Court failed to properly apply the standard of review. This is an erroneous argument. The Court of Appeals had legal authority to conduct its own review of the record and make a determination of reasonable suspicion. The Court of Appeals cited two cases: State v. Hewins, 409 S.C. 93, 113, 760 S.E.2d 814, 824 (2014) and State v. Moore, 343 S.C. 282, 288, 540 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2000) which provided for the appellate court's determination of the issue.

The Court of Appeals also cited State v. Tindal, 388 S.C. 518, 521, 698 S.E.2d 203, 205 (2010) that held that the deferential standard of review for Fourth Amendment cases did not prevent the appellate court from conducting its own review.

The Court of Appeals' decision to decide the reasonable suspicion issue was the logical conclusion in the interest of judicial economy especially since it had already decided that Spears was seized under the Fourth Amendment. To remand the case for one part of the Fourth Amendment issue and then have that part come back on appeal would have been a waste of resources and money for the legal system.

The state argued as a second point that the opinion created precedent that hindered law enforcement investigation and safety. Law enforcement is mandated to follow the United States Constitution and respect the privacy and personal security of citizens. "The purpose of the Fourth Amendment is not to eliminate all contact between the police and the citizenry, but 'to prevent arbitrary and oppressive interference by enforcement officials with the privacy and personal security of individuals.'" United States v. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. 544, 553–54 (1980) (quoting United States v. Martinez–Fuerte, 428 U.S. 543, 554 (1976).)

The state cited Michigan v. Chesternut, 486 U.S. 567 (1988) but that case is totally distinguished from the circumstances in Spears' case. There was a difference between the officer riding alongside a running suspect, who could easily run away, and Spears being followed and stopped by three agents when two of them had guns displayed. This was a face to face contact. The fact that the agents followed Spears initially for several hundred yards and then suddenly quickened their pace was a show of authority because the quickening meant the agents were determined to catch him.

This was not a simple street encounter as argued by the state. In State v. Anderson, 415 S.C. 441, 783 S.E.2d 51 (2016), this Court cited Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968) that a police officer with a reasonable suspicion based on articulable facts that a person is involved in criminal activity may stop, briefly detain, and question that person for investigative purposes without treading on his Fourth Amendment rights. The agents in Spears' case had none of these points cited in Terry. The agents had no objective basis for suspecting legal wrong doing by Spears. They had no facts but that he got off of this bus. It was not consensual because Spears did not feel free to leave with police guns facing him. The agents' quickening pace meant that they were after Spears.

The state erroneously argued that the Court of Appeals erred in finding that Spears was seized when asked if he had any weapons. In Robinson v. State, 407 S.C. 169, 181, 754 S.E.2d 862 (2014), this Court held that a person has been seized within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment at the point in time when, in light of all the circumstances surrounding the incident, a reasonable person would have believed that he was not free to leave. This was the situation with Spears. He had been followed by three agents, two of whom had guns, and who made it clear by quickening their pace that they were after Spears. Spears did not feel free to leave nor not to answer. The agent asking if he had a weapon meant that Spears was under suspicion of a crime.

The state argued that it was the manner in which questions were asked. The surrounding circumstances of Spears' case show that the manner in which questions were asked included the display of weapons. That was a major factor in the totality of the circumstances. In addition, the accelerated pace at which the agents pursued Spears after the initial few hundred yards had an effect on the questions asked as Spears knew he was being pursued.

The state relied on United States v. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. 544 (1980) as being a similar situation as Spears. This is in error as Mendenhall is distinguished from Spears in that the federal agents in Mendenhall told the suspect that she had the right to decline the search and the agents did not display any weapons.

The Court of Appeals correctly found that the agents demonstrated “threatening” behavior by following Spears for several hundred feet and then increased their pace in order to catch up with Spears and his wife, Williams. The Court of Appeals wrote that in a consensual encounter, a person was able to “disregard the officer’s questions and walk away.” Citing State v. Rodriguez, 323 S.C. 484, 476 S.E.2d 161 (Ct. App. 1996). When the agents quickened their pace of walking, that indicated to Spears that he was being pursued and was not free to leave. That quickened pace was a show of force and authority.

The state again relied on Michigan v. Chesternut, *supra*, but again this was in error. Chesternut is distinguished because the officer in that case was only following alongside the suspect who was running.

The state argued against the Court of Appeals’ reliance on State v. Williams, 351 S.C. 591, 571 S.E.2d 703 (Ct. App. 2002) for the factors that determine whether a seizure has occurred as being in error. The seven factors enumerated in Williams apply to Spears’ case except one.

(1) Time and place of the encounter: The state argued that Spears and Williams could have walked away as they were pedestrians. The state ignored the fact that two agents had guns displayed. The agents did not tell Spears that he was free to leave as the agents in Mendenhall did. In State v. Rodriguez, *supra*, the Court of Appeals held that as long as the person

approached remains free to disregard the questions and walk away, no intrusion on privacy has occurred.

(2) Number of officers present: There were three agents following Spears and his wife. Two of the agents had their guns visible. That prevented Spears and Williams from walking away or disregarding the agents' questions.

(3) Whether the agents were uniformed: The agents were in plain clothes but their badges were visible as well as the guns of two of them.

(4) Length of the detention: The length of the actual face to face encounter was not provided. However, the agents observed Spears and then followed him for a while.

(5) Move to a different location or isolate: The agents waited to speak with Spears until they were alone and apart from the other people who came in on the bus.

(6) If Spears was informed that he was free to leave: Law enforcement did not inform Spears and Williams that they were free to leave.

(7) Whether the agents indicated to Spears that he was suspected of a crime: Agent Tracy told Spears that there had been problems in the past with illegal activities and people involved in crime on the bus. He then asked Spears and Williams for their identifications. Agent Tracy then asked Spears if he had any illegal weapons or items on him or in his property. The state argued that the agents did not "directly accuse" Spears of breaking the law. However, these questions by the agent would lead any reasonable person to believe that he was a suspect in a crime. The state cited United States v. Ringold, 335 F.3d 1168 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2003), in error because again, the distinguishing factor was that the agents in Spears' case had guns displayed.

(8) Whether the agents retained the person's documents or exhibited threatening behavior: There was no indication whether the agents kept the identifications provided by Spears

and Williams. However, the agents did exhibit threatening behavior by increasing their pace of walking after following Spears at a normal pace for several hundred yards. This increase in their speed indicated to Spears that he was being pursued and was not free to leave. This finding by the Court of Appeals was correct especially in light of all of the surrounding circumstances.

The state's argument that the Terry frisk was permissible due to reasonable concerns for officer safety is without merit. As the Court of Appeals wrote, Spears at no time exhibited evasive behavior but was cooperative with the officers and forthcoming until they questioned him about the illegal items. However, as the Court of Appeals pointed out, Spears was already seized at that point. The state cited State v. Blassingame, 338 S.C. 240, 525 S.E.2d 535 (Ct. App. 1999) which held that the issue is whether a reasonably prudent man in the circumstances would be warranted in the belief that his safety or that of others was in danger. As stated previously, Spears was cooperative and non evasive in his conversation with the officers. There were three officers with weapons. There was no evidence for a reasonably prudent man to believe he was in danger.

The Fourth Amendment protects the right of the people to be secure in their persons, house, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures. U.S. Const. amend. IV. This guarantee protects against unreasonable searches and seizures, including seizures that only involve a brief detention. Robinson v. State, 407 S.C. 169, 754 S.E.2d 862 (2014) citing State v. Pichardo, 367 S.C. 84, 97, 623 S.E.2d 840, 847 (Ct. App. 2005) (citing United States v. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. 544 (1980)). Reasonable suspicion is something more than an inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or hunch. Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 27 (1968). The police officer may make reasonable inferences regarding the criminality of a situation in light of his experience, but he must be able to

point to articulable facts that, in conjunction with his inferences, “reasonably warrant” the intrusion. Id. at 21, 27. Robinson v. State, 407 S.C. 169, 754 S.E.2d 862(2014).

“To justify a brief stop [or] detention, the police officer must have a reasonable suspicion that the person has been involved in criminal activity.” State v. Robinson, 306 S.C. 399, 402, 412 S.E.2d 411, 413 (1991). The term “reasonable suspicion” requires a particularized and objective basis that would lead one to suspect another of criminal activity. See United States v. Cortez, 449 U.S. 411 (1981); see State v. Woodruff, 344 S.C. 537, 544 S.E.2d 290 (Ct. App. 2001). In determining whether reasonable suspicion exists, the whole picture must be considered. See United States v. Sokolow, 490 U.S. 1 (1989). The burden is on the State to articulate facts sufficient to support reasonable suspicion. See State v. Butler, 343 S.C. 198, 539 S.E.2d 414 (Ct. App. 2000); see also State v. Pichardo, 367 S.C. 84, 104, 623 S.E.2d 840, 851 (Ct. App. 2005).

The United States Supreme Court created the exclusionary rule to safeguard Fourth Amendment rights. United States v. Calandra, 414 U.S. 338 (1974). The exclusionary rule prohibits the use of evidence obtained directly or indirectly through an unlawful search or seizure under the fruits of the poisonous tree doctrine. See Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471, 484 (1963); see also State v. Nelson, 336 S.C. 186, 519 S.E.2d 786 (1999) (finding evidence is not admissible under the “fruit of the poisonous tree” doctrine when the police exploit an unlawful search to seize evidence that would not have otherwise come to light).

The Court of Appeals cited the case of State v. Anderson, *supra*, for this Court’s instruction on reasonable suspicion. Anderson’s case is similar to Spears in analysis. This Court found that “Anderson’s presence in a high crime area carried little weight because the police were in the area for the express purpose of executing a search warrant that did not include the